STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Jul 09 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL ANTHONY BREYAN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001589

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err by denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict for the offense of threatening the life of a public official when the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant's alleged statement to a magistrate court judge contained a threat to take the life of or to inflict bodily harm upon the judge or members of his immediate family?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on June 11, 2019 for threatening the life of a public official. R. 71. His case was called to trial on September 11, 2019 before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Bryna Seay represented the state, and Michael Martinez represented Appellant. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 68, ll. 18-22. He was sentenced to four years imprisonment. R. 69, ll. 5-8.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged.” State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001)). “However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” Id. (citing State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)) (emphasis in original). “On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State.” Id. (citing State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001)).

“A [trial] judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.” Id. (citing State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984)). “Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-405 (2001) (citing Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256). “When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial [judge] is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Shands, 424 S.C. 106, 135, 817 S.E.2d 524, 539 (Ct. App. 2018) (citing State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 624, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2009)).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by denying Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict for the offense of threatening the life of a public official when the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant’s alleged statement to a magistrate court judge contained a threat to take the life of or to inflict bodily harm upon the judge or members of his immediate family.

Relevant Facts

The state alleged at trial that Appellant threatened the life of Michael O’Brien, who was a magistrate court judge in Greenville County, and the life of his family. O’Brien is married and has three children and one grandchild. R. 9, ll. 13-17. He worked at the local detention center and was tasked with signing warrants and setting bond for newly arrested individuals. R. 8, l. 12 – 9, l. 1.

On May 31, 2018, Appellant went before Judge O’Brien to have his bond set on an unrelated charge. O’Brien was on the bench and Appellant “was in the area behind the fencing where they hold the prisoners.” R. 10, l. 13 – 11, l. 2. A detention center guard was with Appellant. R. 11, ll. 3-7. O’Brien advised Appellant of his rights pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) and explained to him what he was charged with. R. 11, l. 8 – 12, l. 6. According to O’Brien, Appellant began talking about his First and Fourteenth Amendment rights. O’Brien “let that go for a good while” and then set Appellant’s bond. R. 12, ll. 7-19.

After he set Appellant’s bond, O’Brien claimed Appellant “started cussing at [him] in the courtroom.” R. 12, ll. 20-21. He asserted, “He said, Fuck you, fuck you, Judge. You don’t have any authority over me. Then he told me I could suck his dick. And he said a few more fuck you’s.” At that point, O’Brien cited Appellant for contempt of court since he was being

“disruptive” in the courtroom and asked the detention center guard to remove Appellant from the courtroom. R. 13, l. 9 – 14, l. 19. According to O’Brien, before Appellant “ever got anywhere close to being out of the courtroom, he said, . . . I’m going to fuck you up, you and your family.” R. 14, ll. 18-23. O’Brien considered this a threat. R. 14, ll. 24-25.

O’Brien admitted Appellant became very agitated after the judge set his bond. Appellant was adamant that O’Brien had no authority over him and that O’Brien was violating the constitution. R. 20, ll. 15-22. While the hearing was audio recorded, the state failed to preserve the recording. O’Brien claimed the system “glitched” and the recording was unavailable. R. 21, l. 23 – 22, l. 22.

The state failed to call the detention center guard who was present in the courtroom as a witness. Apparently, the officer was no longer employed with Greenville County. R. 24, ll. 3-10. However, the state presented Jesse Wasserman, the arresting officer, as a witness. Wasserman worked for the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office as a K9 handler with the traffic interdiction unit. R. 25, ll. 6-10. On May 31, 2018, Wasserman arrested an individual after a traffic stop involving narcotics. He transported the individual to the detention center and placed him in a holding cell while he typed up an arrest warrant. R. 26, ll. 8-18.

According to Wasserman, the computers used by officers to draft warrants were just outside the “bond court area.” R. 26, ll. 8-18. As he was typing the warrant, Wasserman claimed he “heard an extremely loud commotion from inside bond court.” R. 27, ll. 1-4. He “heard a male voice yelling, screaming.” R. 27, ll. 5-7. He poked his head around the corner and looked through the cracked door. He saw a “subject carrying on, using profanities, and a detention center guard beginning to lead him toward the door.” R. 27, ll. 8-18. He identified the

person as Appellant. He claimed Appellant said “he was going to fuck the Judge up.” R. 27, l. 19 – 28, l. 2. Wasserman perceived this as a threat towards Judge O’Brien. R. 28, ll. 5-7.

After Appellant was removed from the courtroom, Wasserman spoke to O’Brien. O’Brien told him that he thought Appellant’s statement “was a direct threat against him, based on his job as a judge.” R. 28, ll. 8-11. Consequently, Wasserman “went to another judge, presented that judge with probable cause. And they issued a warrant for threatening the life of a public official.” R. 28, ll. 11-14.

After the state rested, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. Defense counsel argued the state failed to present sufficient evidence that the words Appellant said contained a threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on Judge O’Brien or members of his immediate family. R. 34, ll. 14-20. While counsel admitted what Appellant allegedly said was inappropriate, inflammatory, and profane, he asserted that the statute requires a more express threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on a public official or members of his immediate family. R. 34, ll. 20-25. He argued that the evidence the state presented is “simply not enough” and merely raised a suspicion Appellant was guilty. R. 35, ll. 1-5.

Counsel cited to three cases demonstrating that an explicit expressed threat to commit violence is necessary under the statute, including In the Interest of Jeremiah W., 361 S.C. 620, 606 S.E.2d 766 (2004), State v. Bridgers, 329 S.C. 11, 495 S.E.2d 196 (1997), and State v. Bailey, 416 S.C. 344, 785 S.E.2d 622 (Ct. App. 2016). R. 69, ll. 6-24. In In the Interest of Jeremiah W., “the Defendant stated he ‘had a gun and he was going to blow the officer’s F-ing head off.’” In Bridgers, “The Defendant stated to a highway patrol officer, ‘I’m going to get my gun. I’m going to come to your home in Lake City. And I’m going to kill you.’” Lastly, in Bailey, “The Defendant [said] . . . that he intended to shoot up the health center and kill everyone

in the mobile crisis. And he told the mental health examiner to get away from his door or he would add her to his list. Then he stated, ‘I’m adding you to the list anyway. I’m going to kill you too.’” R. 35, ll. 6-24. Counsel argued that “these cases demonstrate that there must be a clear communication of bodily harm or death. And it can’t be left to the jury to speculate about the . . . meaning of these words.” R. 35, l. 25 – 36, l. 3.

The assistant solicitor argued there was sufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury. She asserted that Appellant was before Judge O’Brien for a bond hearing. Therefore, the judge “was acting within his professional responsibilities.” She said O’Brien testified that Appellant said, “I’m going to fuck you up, you and your family.” The solicitor concluded this was “clearly” a threat and Judge O’Brien perceived it as a threat. R. 36, ll. 9-19.

The trial judge neither agreed nor disagreed that Appellant’s alleged statement was a threat. He maintained it was “quintessentially a jury question.” R. 36, l. 23 – 37, l. 1. The judge concluded there was evidence in the record that would support the state’s contention that Appellant’s statement was a threat. Accordingly, the judge found, in the light most favorable to the state, that there was evidence from which the jury could find the state met its burden of proof. R. 37, ll. 2-11. He ultimately denied the motion for a directed verdict. R. 37, ll. 10-11.

Appellant testified in his own defense. He believed that the pending charge for which Judge O’Brien was setting bond was unconstitutional. R. 41, ll. 9-11. He told O’Brien that he was acting unlawfully and illegally by setting bond on an unconstitutional charge. R. 42, ll. 4-10. Appellant admitted that he told O’Brien he would have him removed from his position as a judge and sue him financially. R. 42, l. 11 – 44, l. 24. However, he did not remember threatening O’Brien or stating the words O’Brien claimed he said. R. 44, ll. 2-9; R. 45, ll. 5-7. He never intended to hurt Judge O’Brien or his family physically. R. 46, l. 25 – 47, l. 7.

After the defense rested, Appellant renewed his motion for a directed verdict. R. 48, ll. 6-9. However, the judge stood by his previous ruling. R. 48, ll. 10-11.

Discussion

The trial judge erred by denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict for the offense of threatening the life of a public official when the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant's alleged statement to Judge O'Brien contained a threat to take the life of or to inflict bodily harm upon the judge or members of his immediate family.

"The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged." State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001)). "However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." Id. (citing State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)) (emphasis in original). "A [trial] judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty." Id. (citing State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984)). "Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-405 (2001) (citing Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256).

In State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000), our Supreme Court held the trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict where the only evidence presented against the defendant was his fingerprint at the scene of the burglary. Likewise, in State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001), the Court directed a verdict of acquittal for second degree arson where the state presented no direct evidence that Lollis was involved in setting fire to his home.

The circumstantial evidence against Lollis was that his wife admitted to the arson, he had placed valuables in storage prior to the fire, he possessed a key to the storage unit, and he allegedly had financial troubles. The Court found this evidence insufficient. Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584-585, 541 S.E.2d at 256-257.

In State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2012), the Court held Odems was entitled to a directed verdict based upon a lack of substantial circumstantial evidence that he was involved in the burglary. Although Odems was in a car with other individuals who admittedly burglarized a home, the state failed to provide substantial circumstantial evidence that Odems was present during the home invasion. The witness who saw individuals at the home claimed she saw two, not three as were found in the car. Fingerprints collected from the stolen goods did not match Odems, but matched the other occupants in the car. One of the individuals who admitted his involvement claimed Odems was picked up after the burglary at a gas station. Id. at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51.

In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 141, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778 (2011), the Supreme Court held the prosecution failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of Bostick's guilt. The Court concluded the state's evidence was capable of producing only a suspicion of Bostick's guilt. Id. Although the police found items belonging to the decedent in a burn pile behind the home of Bostick's mother, the Court held no evidence linked Bostick to the evidence in the burn pile and the prosecution presented no testimony that Bostick had control over the burn pile. Id. at 137-141, 708 S.E.2d at 775-778. The state also presented evidence that Bostick had a chemical pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was used to start the fire at the decedent's home. Moreover, a DNA expert was able to exclude ninety-nine percent of the population from contributing to blood found on Bostick's jeans, but could not opine the DNA matched the decedent. Id. at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778. The Court concluded this evidence was insufficient.

The state charged Appellant with threatening the life of a public official. South Carolina Code Ann. § 16-3-1040(A) states in relevant part, “It is unlawful for a person knowingly and willfully to deliver or convey to a public official . . . any letter or paper, writing, print, missive, document, or electronic communication or verbal or electronic communication which contains a threat *to take the life of or to inflict bodily harm* upon the public official . . . or members of his immediate family if the threat is directly related to the public official’s . . . professional responsibilities.” (emphasis added).

The state presented no evidence that Appellant threatened to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on Judge O’Brien or his immediate family. Appellant’s alleged statement was extremely vague and contained no expressed threat of violence. As defense counsel argued below, there must be clear communication of an explicit threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on the public official in order to survive a motion for a directed verdict. There was simply no evidence of such in this case. Instead, the trial judge allowed the jury to speculate about the meaning of Appellant’s alleged words.

In In the Interest of Jeremiah W., 361 S.C. 620, 606 S.E.2d 766 (2004), our Supreme Court held the trial judge properly denied Jeremiah’s motion for a directed verdict for threatening the life of a public official. After his arrest for breach of peace, an officer placed Jeremiah, who was handcuffed, into the back of a patrol car. Id. at 623, 606 S.E.2d at 767. During the ride to the police station, Jeremiah refused to answer the officer’s questions and used profanity. Id. He also leaned forward through the opening of the plexiglass separating the front from the rear of the patrol car and yelled at the officer. Id. at 623, 606 S.E.2d at 768. After the officer told Jeremiah to sit back, the officer testified Jeremiah made a gesture as if he was going to spit at the officer. Id. The officer then sprayed the back seat with pepper spray. Id. At the

time of the spraying, the officer testified Jeremiah stated he had a gun, and he was “going to come blow my ‘f-ing’ head off.” Id. Our Supreme Court held this evidence was sufficient to survive a motion for a directed verdict.

In State v. Bridgers, 329 S.C. 11, 495 S.E.2d 196, 197 (1997), our Supreme Court held an officer with the Highway Patrol was a public official within the meaning of § 16-3-1040. While the issue on appeal did not concern a directed verdict, the facts of the case demonstrate that an explicit threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on a public official or his immediate family is necessary under the statute. Bridgers was involved in a car accident. Id. at 12; 495 S.E.2d at 197. Although he left the scene, witnesses were able to identify his vehicle and give the license plate number to the Highway Patrol. Id. Corporal Jack Chamberlain and two other officers went to Bridgers’s home to investigate. Id. According to Chamberlain’s testimony, Bridgers appeared to be intoxicated. Id. He cursed Chamberlain and wanted to fight. Id. Chamberlain testified that Bridgers said: “I’m going to get my gun. I’m going to come to your home in Lake City and I’m going to kill you.” Id. Bridgers was conflicted of threatening to kill a police officer. Id.

In State v. Bailey, 416 S.C. 344, 785 S.E.2d 622 (Ct. App. 2016), Bailey, who was convicted of threatening the life of a public official, argued the trial judge erred in finding a mental health professional employed by the South Carolina Department of Mental Health was a public official, rather than a public employee, under § 16-3-1040. 416 S.C. at 346, 785 S.E.2d at 623. Bailey, who suffered from bipolar disorder, was being held in the Charleston County jail. Amy Cradock, who was employed by a subsidiary of the Department of Mental Health and served as a designated mental health examiner for the jail, was asked to assess Bailey based upon alleged threats he made as well as his actions toward detention officers that day. Id.

When Cradock received the referral, she learned that Bailey had threatened to kill a detention officer upon release. Id. Consequently, Cradock visited Bailey to assess whether he needed to be hospitalized for homicidal ideations. Id. According to Cradock, Bailey became very agitated when she arrived at his cell. Id. Cradock testified that Bailey “started making some very negative statements about the mental health center, and stated that he intended to go shoot up the health center and kill everyone.” Id. Bailey further told Cradock “if [she] didn't get away from his door fast enough, [she] would be added to the list.” Id. As Cradock was walking away, Bailey said, “I'm adding you to the list anyway. I'm going to kill you too.” Id. While a directed verdict was not the issue on appeal, this case demonstrates the explicit threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on a public official or his immediate family that is necessary to support a conviction for threatening the life of a public official.

Judge O'Brien alleged Appellant stated, “I'm going to fuck you up, you and your family.” Unlike the threats made in Jeremiah W., Bridgers, and Bailey, this statement simply does not contain an explicit threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on O'Brien or his immediate family. The vagueness of the alleged threat forced the jury to speculate as to what Appellant meant. Respectfully, because the evidence merely raised a suspicion Appellant was guilty of threatening the life of a public official, this Court should direct a verdict of acquittal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, this Court should direct a verdict for threatening the life of a public official.