**RECEIVED**

**Jul 23 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001589

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL ANTHONY BREYAN, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State provided direct evidence of the charged offense.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant was indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury for threatening the life of and/or harm to a public official. On September 11, 2019, Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Robin Stilwell. Assistant Solicitor Bryna Seay, Esquire, represented the State; Michael Martinez, Esquire, represented Appellant. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged and the trial judge sentenced him to four years' incarceration with credit for time served.

Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal and brief. This brief of Respondent now follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Judge Ernest Michael O'Brien, a magistrate for Greenville County, testified about his interactions with Appellant which led to the instant case. Judge O'Brien, a bond court judge, signs arrest warrants, search warrants, and conducts bond hearings for individuals post-arrest. On May 31, 2018, Appellant was brought in front of Judge O'Brien for a hearing on related charges. Judge O'Brien read Appellant his rights, including his right to remain silent, and tried to read his charges when Appellant began reading off of documents he brought with him. Appellant began a broad discussion of his First Amendment rights, his Fourteenth Amendment rights, and other topics. After a while, Judge O'Brien told Appellant that he had his chance to speak, and that the judge needed to continue in order to proceed with the bond hearing. In response, Appellant began swearing at Judge O'Brien, and exclaimed numerous things such as: (1) Judge O'Brien could "suck his dick"; (2) the judge could "fuck him." In response to Appellant's outburst and disruption, Judge O'Brien informed Appellant he was charging him with contempt of court. Also, because he was charging Appellant with contempt of court, Judge O'Brien began taking extemporaneous notes of the hearing, as was his typical practice for such situations. At this point in the hearing, Judge O'Brien viewed his notes to refresh his recollection of the hearing. Judge O'Brien recalled that following the contempt of court charge, he asked the officer in charge of Appellant to remove him from the courtroom. At this point, Appellant yelled at Judge O'Brien that he would "fuck [him] up, [him] and [his] family." Judge O'Brien immediately interpreted that as a threat. (R.p.8, line 5–R.p.15, line 10; R.p.70)

Deputy Jesse Wasserman of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office also testified at trial. Deputy Wasserman, a K9 handler involved with the traffic interdiction unit of the sheriff's office, was at the courthouse pursuant to a narcotics seizure he had made on the interstate earlier that day. After placing his prisoner in a holding cell, Deputy Wasserman went the bond court

facilities to type up warrants for the person he had just arrested. While typing, he heard “yelling, screaming” and “profanities being used” so he looked around the corner into the bond court. Deputy Wasserman heard Appellant exclaim that he was “going to fuck [Judge O’Brien] up.” Deputy Wasserman also immediately interpreted these statements as a threat to the judge.” Deputy Wasserman spoke with the judge after Appellant was removed from the courtroom, and Judge O’Brien informed Appellant that he also interpreted Appellant’s statements as a threat to him. Deputy Wasserman then went to another judge, presented the judge with probable cause, and obtained a warrant against Appellant for threatening the life of a public official. (R.p.25, line 4–R.p.29, line 2)

At the conclusion of the State’s case, Appellant’s counsel requested a directed verdict on the charge, claiming the State failed to provide sufficient evidence of the charge because the statute requires a “more expressed threat” to the public official or his family’s life, or bodily harm, but the State’s evidence would call for the jury to “speculate about what [Appellant’s] words meant.” (R.p.34, line 13–R.p.35, line 5)

To support his argument, trial counsel cited to a trio of cases involving S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1040: In re Jeremiah W., 361 S.C. 620 (2004) (in which the defendant stated he “had a gun and he was going to blow the officer’s fucking head off”); State v. Bridgers, 329 S.C. 11 (1997) (in which the defendant said, “I’m going to get my gun. I’m going to come to your home in Lake City. And I’m going to kill you.”); and State v. Bailey, 416 S.C. 344 (Ct. App. 2006) (the defendant stated “I’m adding you to the list anyway. I’m going to kill you too.”) Trial counsel claimed each of those cases included a clear communication of bodily harm or death, and in the instant case the jury would have to “speculate” as to what Appellant meant. (R.p.34, line 13–R.p.36, line 7)

In response, the State argued Appellant's statements were clearly a threat, and Judge O'Brien testified he interpreted them as such, and such events occurred while the judge was exercising his duties as a public official. Therefore, through the testimony provided, the State provided direct evidence of Appellant's guilt for the charged offense. The trial judge noted that she would not pass judgment on the issue, and felt that the question of whether Appellant's statements were a threat was "quintessentially a jury question." However, the trial judge did note the State presented evidence that Appellant's statements were, in fact, a threat, and viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to it the State's case raised a question as to Appellant's guilt. Accordingly, the trial judge denied the motion for a directed verdict. (R.p.36, line 8–R.p.38, line 8)

After Appellant's testimony, trial counsel renewed his motion for directed verdict. The trial judge noted counsel was protected on the record, but did not change her ruling. (R.p.48, lines 6–13)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 190, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002). Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine “whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). “[I]f there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, “the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty.” See State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016); also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”).

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State presented direct evidence which, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, was a threat to take the life or harm a public official and his family, proving Appellant's guilt of the charged offense.

Appellant claims the trial judge erred by denying his motion for a directed verdict because his statements to Judge O'Brien were not a clear threat to harm him and his family. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Appellant's statements were a clear threat to Judge O'Brien and were immediately interpreted as such by him and another witness to the incident, Deputy Wasserman. This direct evidence of the Appellant's guilt was more than sufficient to submit the issue to a jury.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1040:

(A) It is unlawful for a person knowingly and wilfully to deliver or convey to a public official or to a teacher or principal of an elementary or secondary school any letter or paper, writing, print, missive, document, or electronic communication or verbal or electronic communication which contains a threat to take the life of or to inflict bodily harm upon the public official, teacher, or principal, or members of his immediate family if the threat is directly related to the public official's, teacher's, or principal's professional responsibilities.

...

(C) A person who violates the provisions of subsection (A), upon conviction, must be fined not more than five thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.

...

(E) For purposes of this section:

(1) "Public official" means an elected or appointed official of the United States or of this State or of a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of this State.

(2) "Public employee" means a person employed by the State, a county, a municipality, a school district, or a political subdivision of this State, except that for purposes of this section, a "public employee" does not include a teacher or principal of an elementary or secondary school.

(3) "Immediate family" means the spouse, child, grandchild, mother, father, sister, or brother of the public official, teacher, principal, or public employee.

### The Direct Evidence of Appellant's Guilt

Initially, the State notes that throughout Appellant's brief, he implies the evidence against him was circumstantial and cites to prior South Carolina cases in which our Supreme Court found various trial courts should have granted directed verdict to the charged defendants based on the tenuous, insubstantial circumstantial evidence presented at trial. See State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 588, 720 S.E.2d 48, 51 (2012) (finding defendant's interaction with two individuals who admittedly burglarized a home was not substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt when other circumstantial evidence disproved guilt, including fingerprints which matched the admitted burglars but not Odems); State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 137–41, 708 S.E.2d 774, 775–78 (2011) (police locating items belonging to victim in a burn pile behind Bostick's mother's home where prosecution presented no testimony that Bostick had control over the burn pile or was linked to the evidence found therein); State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584–85, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256–57 (2001) (finding circumstantial evidence against Lollis for a charge of arson was insufficient where the only evidence against Lollis was his wife admitted to the arson, he had placed valuable in storage prior to a fire, he possessed a key to the storage unit used, and allegedly had financial troubles); and State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000) (defendant's fingerprint found at scene of burglary was not substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt because Appellant had a prior verified lawful presence in the house and State did not provide evidence of when fingerprint was left on the found glass).

Here, however, the case against Appellant was based on direct evidence, i.e. the testimony of witnesses who observed him make the statements. See, e.g., State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 83–84, 489 S.E.2d 462, 464 (1997) (explaining “direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness.”) Both

Judge O'Brien and Deputy Wasserman observed Appellant make the statements in question. Accordingly, the evidence against direct, not circumstantial, and the fact that "any" direct evidence of Appellant's guilt was presented to the jury required the trial judge to deny the directed verdict motion and submit the issue to the jury. See Odems, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50.

#### Explicit Threats of Harm

Appellant argues his statements to the judge claiming he would "fuck [him] up, [him] and [his] family was not an explicit threat to take the life of or inflict bodily harm on Judge O'Brien. However, the threat was anything but vague. "Fucking someone up" is common slang for harming another individual; Urban Dictionary defines the term as "Viciously and relentlessly attacking someone, usually to the point of visible injury." See, e.g., Fuck Someone Up, Urban Dictionary<sup>1</sup>, <https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=fucking%20someone%20up> (last visited June 10, 2020).

Other courts which considered threats using such language have reached the same conclusion. In S.L.L. v. MacDonald, 340 P.3d 773 (2014), the Court of Appeals of Oregon found a party's statement to his ex-wife that he would "fuck [her] up" was "an (1) 'unequivocal' threat of (2) 'imminent personal violence.'" Id. at 776. The court noted the disputed phrase was "a colloquial term that, in context, has but one meaning." Id. Similarly, in U.S. v. Temple, 447

---

<sup>1</sup> The State notes both this Court and the Supreme Court of South Carolina have relied on Urban Dictionary in the past to define modern slang terms relevant to the determination of issues on appeal. See, e.g., State v. Williams, 427 S.C. 246, 257 n.1, 830 S.E.2d 904, 910 n.1 (2019); State v. Odom, 376 S.C. 330, 338 n.1, 656 S.E.2d 748, 753 n.1 (Ct. App. 2007)

F.3d 130 (2d Cir 2006), the Second Circuit noted that the defendant's statement to the victim that he was "gonna fuck [him] up" was a threat.<sup>2</sup> Id. at 140.

In his brief, Appellant references the same cases he did at trial—In re Jeremiah W., Bridgers, and Bailey—for the proposition that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1040(A) applies to explicit threats to kill or harm public officials. However, none of those cases specified a particular phrase or wording required to satisfy the requirements of the statute. In the instant case, Appellant made statements of which can only be interpreted as a threat. Both Judge O'Brien and Deputy Wasserman immediately interpreted Appellant's statements as threats to the judge and his family. Notably, Appellant argues his statements are not an explicit threat to harm, but is unable to provide a single alternate interpretation of his statements to this Court. Further, even if his statements were capable of multiple interpretations, submission to the jury is the proper recourse in such a situation. When evidence is susceptible to more than one interpretation or reasonable inference, it is the province of the jury to weigh the evidence and determine a defendant's guilt for the charged offense. See Richburg, 250 S.C. at 459, 158 S.E.2d at 772. It is the duty of the factfinder, not the trial court, to interpret the evidence and determine a defendant's guilt. Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict and submitted the issue to the jury.

---

<sup>2</sup> However, the court found Temple's statements did not demonstrate an immediate or imminent threat to harm as required by the statute through which Temple was charged, 18 U.S.C.A. § 111, because the prosecution was required to provide some evidence of Temple's ability to carry out that threat in a timely fashion. See Temple, 447 F.3d at 140.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court be affirmed.